1953

# Henrietta Smith v. Golden J. Bennett : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

of the collision. There is a marked pedestrian lane running in a northeasterly, southwesterly direction across the street and it is contended by the plaintiff that she proceeded in the pedestrian lane to the center of the highway, then proceeded easterly approximately 45 feet, then proceeded in a southeasterly direction toward her home which is designated on the map as 937 West 2nd South, and that the accident occurred when she was in the second traffic lane on the south side of the street.

Harold A. Peterson, Jr., called as plaintiff's witness testified that he investigated the accident as a Salt Lake City Police Officer, and made certain measurements at the scene. He testified that the left side of the automobile was just over, by a matter of inches or a foot of the first yellow line south of the center lane at a point 306 feet east of the 9th West intersection and 14 feet from the south curb and 13 feet from the south center lane of traffic, and that there were light scuff marks on the street approximately 3 feet from where the automobile came to rest (R. 11). He did not recall any blood stains on the street, and the injured person had been removed by police ambulance prior to the investigation. (R. 12). He saw no indications of brake marks. (R. 13).

W. O. Cowden, Salt Lake Police Officer testified for plaintiff that he investigated the accident with Officer Peterson and discussed the accident with the defendant at the scene. That defendant told him he would estimate that he was approximately 50 feet from the pedestrian when he realized the danger first and that he had been

traveling 25 miles per hour and his estimated speed at the time of impact was one mile per hour; that he had just pushed the pedestrian ahead of the automobile (R. 15).

Golden J. Bennett, the defendant was called by plaintiff as a witness and testified that on the date of the accident he was 18 years of age. (R. 18). That he was employed at Lang Co. and had left his work shortly after 6:00 o'clock. (R. 19). That upon proceeding from his work easterly on West 2nd South, he entered lane No. 1 which is the southerly most traffic lane on the south side of the street and proceeded in that lane. (R. 21).

Q. "As you hit the intersection, that would be the west side of the intersection of 9th West and 2nd South Street, how fast were you traveling, Mr. Bennett?

A. I could not tell you for sure, I was not watching my speedometer, but I wasn't going very fast.

Q. What is your best judgment of your speed?

A. Oh, 25 miles an hour, maybe 20 - 30, somewhere around there." (Tr. 22)

\* \* \*

Q. (By Mr. Beatie) "Will you mark that please, then, let's mark it 'D 1' the position. Now when you were at point 'D 1' will you mark on the diagram where Mrs. Smith was, please, Mr. Bennett?

A. Well, when I first saw Mrs. Smith it seemed to me like she was walking into these yellow lines right approximately here.

Q. Just mark that then with a circle, say, and mark that 'S'. Now when you were at point 'B 1' and you observed Mrs. Smith at point 'S', how fast was your car travelling?

A. Approximately 25 miles an hour."

\* \* \*

Q. Between point "B 1" and the west edge of the cross walk marked upon Exhibit B, did you reduce your speed by applying your brakes at any point?

A. Yes. (R. 25)

Q. (By Mr. Beatie) Now will you tell me, Mr. Bennett, how far west of the west line of the cross walk point "B 1" is in your best judgment.

A. I could not tell you for sure, I do not know the distance from the crosswalk to the map here. I imagine it was 50 or 75 feet, something like that. (R. 26)

Q. I want to know what your judgment is of where you first observed her starting to run across the street and at what point on the south portion of the highway were you at that time.

A. I first observed her when she started to run across the street approximately right here.

Q. You are indicating in the area of "S 4", is that correct?

A. That is correct. (R. 31)

Q. Will you make below "B 5" then, please, 25-30 feet? Now at point "B 5" how fast were you travelling, Mr. Bennett.

A. I have no idea, sir. At that point I had already slowed down for Mrs. Smith once and I thought I had the right of way. (R. 32)

Q. And was she walking at all times between point "S 1" and "S 4" in a southeasterly direction?

A. Well she stopped when I honked my horn, you see, she was then at point "S 4".

Q. She was then at a point "S 4", is that correct, when you honked your horn?

A. Approximately, yes. (R. 36)

THE COURT: From the time you honked your horn until she started to run in front of your car as you say she did, how far did you travel?

THE WITNESS: Approximately 25 or 30 feet, maybe, I don't know. (R. 37)

Q. (By Mr. Beatie) Mr. Bennett, would you say that as you have diagrammed here at point "B 5" that you travelled a distance then of 25 to 30 feet while Mrs. Smith ran 13 feet, is that correct?

A. Well, sir, I don't know, that is just an approximate diagram I put there. I have no measurements or anything to go by there, I don't know. (R. 38)

Q. Now let me ask you from point "B 5" on the Exhibit B did your car vary in its path from that point to the point of impact?

A. Yes.

Q. Very much?

A. I just turned a little.

Q. In which way did it turn?

A. It turned right a little, it skidded right a little.

Q. Skidded right?

A. Yes, kind of. (R. 40)

Ross J. Smith, the husband of plaintiff testified:

Q. And it is your best estimate it is between 80 and 85 feet east of the east side of the cross walk to the point at which you first found your wife's body.

A. Yes.

Q. Now how could you identify that particular spot, or was there anything that would indicate what that spot was when you first arrived there.

A. You mean when I first got out to the scene of the accident?

Q. Yes, the scene of the accident.

A. There was a puddle of blood on the end of the white line. (R. 53)

Plaintiff testified in her behalf that she had resided at 937 West 2nd South for about seven years and had been employed at the Western Co-op for about ten years as a cashier (R. 61). That plaintiff has never had any injuries to her body of any kind but has worn glasses since she was about 20 years old; that she is now 55 years of age and had not had a doctor in attendance in the last ten years. (R. 62); that on the evening of the accident she came out of the Western Co-op with a fellow employee, Mrs. Ostberg and Mr. Wright, her employer was at the door and saw her walk easterly from the entrance of the Western Co-op to the driveway with Mrs. Ostberg. (R. 53).

Q. Take the pencil so you can mark it from where you left Mrs. Ostberg and what path you took in going home.



A. I left Mrs. Ostberg here by the truck and I came down here and come down here to the curbing.

Q. All right. Now at the curbing let me ask you this. At the curbing did you make any observation of traffic on 2nd South Street?

A. I looked eastward. (R. 64)

Q. Did you look west at all?

A. No, sir.

Q. What did you observe as far as your traffic was concerned toward the east?

A. There was a car coming.

Q. How you any opinion as to how far the car was away?

A. It was up toward 8th West.

Q. Now where did you go from the point you were at the curbing, Mrs. Smith?

A. I came across—

Q. Just make a mark with the pencil.

A. I came in through here and came to the center lane where the yellow line is in the middle.

Q. At that particular point did you make any observation of the traffic on 2nd South Street?

A. I stopped there, sir, and looked west.

Q. Which way did you look?

A. Westward, sir.

Q. What did you observe in reference to the traffic situation west of you on 2nd South Street at that point? Was a car or cars coming down the street?

A. A car was coming way down the street.

Q. Now when you say way down the street, which way?

A. Almost to 10th West.

Q. What next did you do?

A. Then after I stopped there I walked up—

Q. Just mark with the pencil where you walked.

A. I walked up this yellow line in through here.

Q. Now have you any opinion as to how far you walked from the point in the center of the street in an easterly direction? (R. 65)

A. I guess about 45 feet.

Q. You had proceeded from a point in the cross walk in an easterly direction, I understand, between the yellow line easterly about 45 feet?

A. That's right. (R. 66)

Q. Mrs. Smith, the last question asked last night was, was the white apron, a portion of the butcher's apron which you had on clear around your body below the hips, and the answer was "Yes". It is my impression that the previous position at which that question was asked, was that you were in the center of the street, between the marked lines, east of the crosswalk; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Now then, you were at that position which you have said in your judgment was approximately 45 feet east, between the marked center line, did you make any observation of traffic to the west which would be coming easterly?

A. Before I crossed the street I stopped and looked.

Q. Now, Mrs. Smith, will you just listen to the question, please and we will get along faster. When you were in the center lines, you had gone 45 feet east; I understand you to say you stopped?

A. I did, sir.

Q. All right. When you were at that portion of the highway between the lines, when you came to the stop, did you observe the condition of traffic on the south portion of West Second South Street?

A. There was a car—parked cars west of 9th West. (R. 102)

Q. Was there any other traffic that you observed on the south portion of 2nd South?

A. There wasn't anything between 9th West and where I was.

Q. What next did you do? Withdraw that. Did you leave that particular point after having made that observation?

A. Yes.

Q. What did you do?

A. I saw the car down there, and started to cross the street.

Q. Which way did you walk?

A. I walked over to the south side.

Q. Did you run at all?

A. Not that I know of.

Q. Well you were there; did you walk or did you run?

A. Well I have always walked rather quickly.

Q. Which direction did you walk?

A. I walked south.

Q. Why were you walking in that direction, Mrs. Smith?

A. Because my home is just there. (R. 103)

Q. (By Mr. Beatie) Now when you say, Mrs. Smith, that you were proceeding toward your home, in what general direction were you walking from the center lines of West 2nd South Street?

A. South-southeast to my home.

Q. Now how far did you walk from the center cross lines on the south portion of 2nd South Street?

A. I was in the center one—in the second line. (R. 105)

Q. Which lane were you in?

A. Lane 1.

Q. You were in Lane 1?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened, if anything?

A. All I can remember is that I heard an awful grinding noise and it felt like my body was whirling around, and I hit. That is all. (Tr. 106)

The witness then described in detail the nature of her injuries and the places in her body which were injured and the pain and suffering she still has. (R. 126).

## CROSS EXAMINATION

Q. Mrs. Smith, as I understand your testimony, you said that when you got about 45 feet east of the center of the street, east of the center of the pedestrian lane, and center of the street, that you looked toward the west; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you started across the street?

A. Yes.

Q. And were you walking fast or hurrying, as you went across the street, or running?

A. I walked, the way I have always walked. I didn't walk slowly, sir.

Q. Well, did you walk faster than you usually did?

A. No; faster than I do now. I cannot walk as fast; faster than I do now.

Q. Would it be fair to say, Mrs. Smith, that the last time you—that your testimony in court is, that the last time you looked to the west was when you were in the center of the street, at this point 45 feet east of the pedestrian lane?

A. I looked there before I started crossing the street.

Q. Then you walked southwesterly across the first lane of traffic?

A. Wouldn't be southwest, —my home.

Q. Southeasterly—I mean southeasterly. You walked southeasterly toward your home? Is that right? (R. 126)

A. Yes.

Q. So you walked from the center line here, to the point where the impact occurred, without looking back again?

A. I can't say whether I happened to look that way again or not. It is too long ago for me to remember. (Tr. 127)

Edwin W. Wright testified for the plaintiff as follows:

Q. Now will you just tell the court and the jury please, what you observed from that particular position, Mr. Wright, on that night?

A. The first thing that happened, that I paid any attention to, was a serious screeching of some automobile brakes, and then that stopped. It stopped as if it had hit, or probably be going to hit something or someone, and I went over toward that direction, and there on the ground, about, oh I would say 15 or 20 feet from the south sidewalk, was my employe there, lying on the ground, and her head was bleeding on the rear, and she called for her glasses. Somebody had them and she got them. And I stayed there a few minutes, and then I went back to my place of business.

Q. Now at any time from your point of observation, from where you were at Western Co-op, did you hear any warning signal given, such as a horn honk or anything, immediately prior to the screeching of the brakes.

A. No, sir. (R. 97)

Helen Ostberg testified for the plaintiff as follows:

Q. What next did you hear or observe there that evening?

A. Well I was half in the truck, a closed-panel truck, and I heard a loud noise, so I drew back,

to see what it was, and at that time I saw a body about two or three feet in the air, and it then rolled along the pavement, much like a sack of potatoes, and gave the resemblance somebody had fallen out of a car—really (R. 99) rolled quite fast.

Frank W. Bonner, testified for the plaintiff that he witnessed the accident at a point about 75 feet east of the cross walk. (R. 134).

Q. Then you only noted her in the center of the street first?; had she ever crossed before you—let's start again. She crossed the street then in front of your car; is that correct?

A. That is right.

Q. And was she walking or what you say between a walk and a trot?

A. She was hurrying.

Q. So you were how many feet east of her would you say when she left the center of the street?

A. I imagine about 40 feet by that time, —40 or 50 feet.

Q. And did she continue right on as she passed the center line on the south portion of the highway?

A. She hesitated.

Q. She hesitated?

A. Yes.

Q. And what do you mean by "hesitated"? (R. 137)

A. I don't know what anybody would stop in the middle of the road for unless to look.

Q. Would you say then she just hesitated and looked and started off again; is that it?



A. Yes.

Q. Now at the time she hesitated in the center of the street, did you observe any car coming east, Mr. Bonner?

A. Yes. (R. 138)

Q. Now while this particular car came in an easterly direction, which you observed with two lights, did you follow it to know that it was the Bennett car and the one involved in the accident?

A. I seen Mr. Bennett hit the object.

Q. And from the point which you have initialed here, as being west of the crosswalk, did that car vary at all from one lane to another as it approached in an easterly direction?

A. Well, it seemed like it wanted to go just a little bit to the number 2 lane, and then it switched back in,—not too much. I was slowing down at the time. I had a feeling something was going to happen; something just told me something was going to happen. (R. 139).

Q. Did you hear the honking of a horn just before the accident happened?

A. No.

\* \* \*

Q. And do you have any estimation of how fast he was traveling before the impact of his automobile?

A. I was going west, and it is pretty hard for me to judge. I thought maybe between 30 and maybe a little faster; not much. Maybe I might be wrong there too. It is hard to tell which way you are going, and how fast a man is going inside of your own car. (R. 140)



Q. Then from that position in which these left wheels were five feet, he then cut back into Lane No. 1; is that correct?

A. That is right.

Q. Now will you just mark from this mark here, where he cut back into Lane No. 1? Will you just draw it to the best of your ability?

A. He just started in a little, and came back into here, you know, in this vicinity here; he straightened up. (R. 145)

Charles Henry Sweat testified for the plaintiff as follows:

Q. She was bleeding from the head?

A. Yes, there was a little blood there, I noticed.

Q. Did you observe any particular marks on it—traffic marks on it—from the Bennett car?

A. Yes, I noticed his brake.

Q. In other words, as we call it—burning rubber; did you notice any marks from his burning rubber just prior to the accident?

A. Yes, I did. I noticed that, the length he skidded. I noticed that.

Q. How far would you estimate that was, Mr. Sweat; was it west of the crosswalk? The brake marks?

A. No, definitely right against the woman, right close to the woman. As a matter of fact, the time I heard the brakes was the time I saw the collision; I don't know if he applied his brakes at the time the impact was. (R. 155)

At the conclusion of the evidence for plaintiff Rex J. Hanson, attorney for defendant, made a motion for a non-suit. The Court then stated:

THE COURT: "Members of the Jury in this case it is the opinion of the Court that the plaintiff was contributorily negligent in two respects; in failing to keep a proper lookout for vehicles, and also in depriving the defendant-driver of the right-of-way." (R. 161)

"In that event, the pedestrian is obligated to yield the right-of-way to the vehicle. In this case, that observation was not made and that would have to be a failure to observe because the vehicle was there, where it would reach that point at the same time as the pedestrian. However, the pedestrian did not observe it, and the only way that you could say that the vehicle did not have the right-of-way, would be to say he was so far back he was traveling at a high rate of speed, and the pedestrian could not observe it.

"There is some evidence of speed here, and some conflicting evidence. The evidence might be sufficient to show negligence on the part of the defendant, in which event we would have to decide, but I do not think the evidence is sufficient to show that the automobile did not have the right-of-way." (R. 163)

Mr. Rex J. Hanson then withdrew his motion for non-suit and made a motion for a directed verdict which was granted and a verdict signed by the foreman of the jury.

## STATEMENT OF POINT RELIED UPON

### POINT I.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE AS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT.

### ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE AS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT.

In *Hess v. Robinson*, (Utah) 163 Pac. (2d) 510.

Justice Larson said at page 512:

“As to what the circumstances were at the time plaintiff entered the intersection, and as to whether entering under such circumstances was an act from which a person of ordinary prudence and caution would have foreseen that some injury would likely result, are matters upon which reasonable minds may differ. As such they are properly for the jury. Proximate cause and contributory negligence are ordinarily questions of fact for the jury to determine under all the circumstances. (Citing Cases). Questions of negligence do not become questions of law for court except where the facts are such that all reasonable men draw the same conclusions. \* \* \*

“Since in this cause there is a question as to what were the circumstances existing when plaintiff entered the intersection, and where those circumstances may be found by the trier of the fact to be such that reasonable men might differ as to whether plaintiff’s conduct in entering the intersection was such as an ordinarily prudent and careful man might do under the circumstances, there was a question for the jury as to whether plaintiff’s negligence was contributory, that is, was the proximate cause of the injury.”

In *Hickok v. Skinner*, (Utah) 190 Pac. (2d) 514.

Justice Wolfe said at page 519:

“Even if it be conceded that plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law, the question of whether or not such negligence was a substantial causative factor in producing the collision was one of fact. Even if plaintiff had taken a second or third look, such might not have revealed to him that defendant would not yield the right-of-way to him, until too late for plaintiff to avert the accident. This case is somewhat similar to *Hess v. Robinson*, 109 Utah 60, 163 P. (2d) 510. In that case plaintiff was driving on a through highway and did not see the defendant’s ambulance approaching from the right. The ambulance went through the stop sign and crashed into plaintiff’s automobile. The trial court held both parties negligent as a matter of law, but submitted the case to the jury on the question of whether or not plaintiff’s contributory negligence was a proximate cause of the damage. From a verdict and judgment for plaintiff, defendants appealed. We affirmed. Although the court divided on the question of whether or not plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law, we

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