1953

# Henrietta Smith v. Golden J. Bennett : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF HER OWN INJURIES AS A MATTER OF LAW.

We agree with the authorities cited in appellant's brief to the effect that the question of contributory negligence is for the jury whenever the evidence is such that jurors, acting fairly and reasonably, may say that they are not convinced by a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiff was guilty of negligence which proximately contributed to cause his own injury. *Strickle v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, (Utah) 251 P (2) 867.

However, the evidence in the record establishes that plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence which approximately caused her own injury with such certainty that reasonable minds could not find to the contrary. Plaintiff was guilty of negligence in the following respects:

#### a. FAILURE TO KEEP LOOKOUT.

The evidence shows that this accident happened at dusk, at 6:10 p.m. in the evening and that it was not yet dark. The street was well lighted and the street lights were on. The street was wide open (Exhibit I & J) and there were no obstructions to plaintiff's vision. The defendant had the lights of his car turned on. Plaintiff was not in a position on the street where she might have expected defendant to stop for her. The defendant's car

had approached a point where the impact occurred from a point some blocks west. There can be no doubt that the car was there to be seen. It is no excuse for plaintiff to say she did not see the vehicle when the vehicle was there. The length of the skid marks and the distance the car traveled after impact show that the defendant was traveling at a low rate of speed. The testimony of the eye witnesses corroborates this. This evidence can lead us to only one conclusion; the plaintiff either did not look for the defendant's vehicle before she crossed into the path of this vehicle, or if she did look, plaintiff failed to heed what she saw.

The Supreme Court of Michigan, *Malone v. Vining*, 313 Michigan 315, 21 N.E. 2d 144 aptley, defined the duty of a pedestrian as follows:

“Under present day traffic conditions a pedestrian, before crossing a street or highway, must (1) make proper observation as to approaching traffic, (2) observe approaching traffic and form a judgment as to its distance away and its speed, (3) continue his observations while crossing the street or highway, and (4) exercise that degree of care and caution which an ordinarily prudent person would exercise under like circumstances.”

The evidence in this case conclusively shows that the plaintiff did not exercise the degree of care required from a reasonably prudent person. It logically and naturally follows that such heedless and inattentive conduct was negligence as a matter of law. Numerous courts including the Utah Supreme Court in similar circumstances have so held.

In *Mingus v. Olsen*, 114 Utah 505, 201 Pac. (2d) 495, a directed verdict was sustained on the grounds of plaintiff's contributory negligence. In concluding that the plaintiff either did not look or did not make sufficient or adequate observation, this court said:

"More convincing than the direct testimony that deceased did not look, is the further evidence that deceased neither said nor did anything to indicate that he was at all aware of the danger presented by defendant's approaching automobile. He seems to have been wholly unaware of its approach. Certainly he did nothing either to warn his wife, nor to rescue either himself or her from their position of peril. On this evidence, it must be said as a matter of law that deceased either failed to look, or having looked, failed to see what he should have seen."

In *Sant v. Miller*, 115 Utah 559, 206 Pac. (2d) 719, plaintiff and his wife were crossing the main street of Logan, Utah, from east to west at a point between intersections. They stopped somewhere over the center of the highway on the west side of the street to allow south-bound traffic to pass. Plaintiff was gazing in a south-westerly direction when defendant's automobile, approaching from the north struck the plaintiff and injured him. Plaintiff's wife had seen the impending danger and had stepped out of the way. Verdict was directed in favor of defendant by the lower court and affirmed on appeal, the court saying:

"Appellant was aware of the fact that he was taking a chance in crossing the street at a place contrary to law. He should also have known that



a driver of a vehicle would not ordinarily anticipate the presence of pedestrians on the street at the time and place of the accident. Knowing that his presence might not be anticipated and knowing that traffic on the west side of the road was approaching from the north and with nothing of importance to distract his attention, it was appellant's duty to watch the traffic he knew was approaching his location.

“\* \* \* Having omitted to continue to watch, he failed to exercise the degree of care required of a pedestrian who leaves a place of safety and places himself in a position of peril. A greater degree of care is necessary upon the part of a pedestrian who undertakes to cross a city street at a prohibited place than is placed on one who uses a marked crosswalk.”

*Tysinger v. Cobble Dairy Products*, (N.C.) 36 S.E. (2d) 267:

“Now, then, as to the alleged contributory negligence of plaintiff's testate, it is sufficient to say that in crossing the highway at a point other than a marked crosswalk at an intersection it was his duty to yield the right of way to all vehicles upon the highway. G.S. Sec. 20-174 (a). The highway was visible according to all the evidence, for at least 300 yards in the direction from which the truck of the defendant was approaching. And in leaving the point where he was talking to the witness Everhardt to go toward his home, he necessarily faced in the direction of the oncoming truck. He must have seen the truck and taken the chance of crossing or, have been inattentive to the duty imposed upon him by law, and started across without looking for vehicles on the highway. In either event, a reading of the evidence leads to the con-



clusion as a matter of law, that his own conduct contributed to his injury and death, unfortunate and regrettable as it may be.”

In *Horton, et al v. Stoll*, (Cal.) 40 Pac. (2d) 603, plaintiff, a twenty-year old girl, was crossing between intersections not in a pedestrian lane. As she came to the further west car track first rail, she hesitated and looked or glanced to the north, but failed to remember what, if anything, she saw. She was under the impression, however, that she had plenty of time to cross the street. After taking a step or so, and while she was still on the car track, she was hit by the left front fender of defendant's car coming from the north. In sustaining a non-suit, the court said:

“We are of the opinion that the facts of this case show affirmatively that plaintiff failed to use due care and that she failed in this respect was the proximate cause of the injury.

“Had she looked she must have seen defendant's car approaching a few feet away, for she had taken only a step or two from her position of safety when she was struck.

“It was plaintiff's duty from the position she was in upon the highway to yield to defendant the right of way.

“The only conclusion that can be reached from the evidence is that plaintiff failed to take the trouble to properly look for automobiles on the side of the street as she crossed, or that she saw the automobile and for some unexplained reason stepped directly in its path. Under either theory she failed to use due care, which precludes her rights of recover.”

In *Reid v. Owens*, 98 Utah 50, 93 Pac. (2d) 680, this court in holding plaintiff guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law said :

“A case very similar to the instant case is *Andrus v. S. J. Boudreaux & Son*, La. App. 158 So. 679. There the plaintiff was foreman of about twelve men engaged in roadwork, about half of them being on each side of the road, but not on the paved portion, as defendant's truck approached. The paymaster had just pulled up his car across the road from the plaintiff who proceeded to cross the road diagonally to the paymaster's car. The plaintiff testified he did not see defendant's truck, but the court noted a probable inference that he saw it from the fact that he had ‘walked unusually fast, rushed or run.’ But this was immaterial as the court found: ‘The on-coming truck was in full open view of the road and was bound to have been seen by the plaintiff had he looked down the road at the time of starting across.’ The court then held the plaintiff to the knowledge he would have had if he had looked and held: ‘It was his duty to look for his safety before starting across. He must be regarded as having seen the truck whether he looked or not’; and the court approved the holding of the lower court that plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. ‘He should not have thus voluntarily, heedlessly, and thoughtlessly left a safe place and exposed himself to an obvious danger by trying to cross the road under the circumstances which attended such a movement.’

“As the court said in *Andrus v. S. J. Boudreaux & Son*, *supra*, he was chargeable with what he would have seen had he looked. He either proceeded without looking or, having seen the ap-

proaching car, he chanced crossing in face of the hazard. The latter would clearly, under the circumstances, have been negligence on his part. The approaching vehicle was at the instant of deceased's entry onto the pavement so near that no prudent person would attempt crossing in front of it. The more reasonable inference is he did not see the car. But had he looked he would have seen it, and he is charged with knowledge of what he would have seen had he the duty to look. We think that he clearly had such duty.

\* \* \*

"The presence of the barriers on the untraveled portion of the highway and of piles of dirt on the side of the pavement, and the presence of workmen, would not justify deceased in assuming that the driver of a vehicle will, because of the presence of these elements, so drive as to avoid striking one who, without looking, darts out into the path of the vehicle. We conclude that under the evidence viewed most favorably to the plaintiffs the deceased was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law."

In the recent case of *Cox v. Thompson* (Utah) 254 P. (2) 1047, a wrongful death action, the evidence was that the deceased had started across a poorly lighted highway in Orem, Utah, at night and had traveled more than halfway across the highway, when his wife called to him, whereupon he turned and walked directly into the path of a southbound automobile. The trial court directed the verdict in favor of the defendant on the grounds that the deceased was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. This court upheld the trial courts decision and said:

“On the evidence set forth the trial court correctly found decedent contributorily negligent as a matter of law. From a fair appraisal of the evidence, reasonable men can draw but one inference and that inference points unerringly to the negligence of the decedent. In response from a call from his wife, decedent who was crossing east across a poorly lighted highway, turned and walked directly into the path of defendant’s automobile. Crossing a highway at a point where there was no marked crosswalk, decedent was duty-bound to yield the right of way to the vehicle upon the roadway. See 46-6-79, Utah Code Annotated 1953. This he failed to do. He, in addition apparently failed to look, or having looked failed to see what he should have seen and paid heed to it. He said nothing and did nothing which indicated that he was in any way aware of the danger presented. Decedent was properly found negligent as a matter of law.”

In this case, as in the cases cited, the plaintiff either unaware of the approach of the defendant’s automobile or heedless of her own safety, left her position of comparative safety in the center of the street and walked directly into the path of the defendant’s vehicle. Whether she failed to see the defendant’s vehicle, as she herself testified, or seeing it deliberately crossed in front of the vehicle, in either instance, she was guilty of negligence as a matter of law.

**b. FAILURE TO YIELD RIGHT OF WAY.**

The evidence in this case discloses that the plaintiff may have crossed the highway where this accident occurred in one of two ways. She may have started across the highway within the marked crosswalk and proceeded

to the center of the highway. From that point she turned and walked up the center of the highway 45 feet and then diagonally toward the point of impact, some 69 feet east of the crosswalk at a point apparently between the two lanes of eastbound traffic. The two eye witnesses testified that the plaintiff crossed the highway more or less in a diagonal line from the driveway in front of the Western Co-op to the point of impact. Under either version, plaintiff was not within the crosswalk or did not have a preferred position upon the highway.

Section 46-6-79 Utah Code Annotated 1953 provides:

“Every pedestrian crossing a roadway at any point other than within a marked crosswalk or within an unmarked crosswalk at an intersection shall yield the right of way to all vehicles upon the roadway.”

It is clear that as soon as plaintiff left the center of the highway and proceeded directly into the path of eastbound traffic, she failed in her duty to yield the right of way as provided by law. Her failure to so yield the right of way was clearly negligent and it is readily seen that had she not continued her course, this accident would not have happened.

In *Fearn v. City of Philadelphia*, (Pa.) 182 Atl. 534, the court said:

“When a pedestrian traverses a street between intersections, since he is not crossing at a place where he is expected to be, he must exercise a higher degree of care for his safety; motorists are correspondingly held to a less degree of care.”

See also *Sheldon v. James*, (Cal.) 166 Pac. 8, where the court said:

“A greater degree of care is necessary upon the part of the pedestrian who undertakes to cross a congested highway other than at the established crosswalk and especially so if in the act he does not essay a direct crossing, but pursues a long diagonal route.

“The observation of ordinary care by such a pedestrian is not fully performed by merely looking to the left or right as he steps upon the street. The observance of that care is imperative upon him during all of the time that he is crossing.”

## POINT II.

### PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE AS MATTER OF LAW.

The principal argument of the appellant appears not to be that the plaintiff was not negligent in the manner in which she proceeded across 2nd South Street, but that the trial judge should have submitted the issue of whether or not her negligence was a proximate cause of her injuries to the jury. Is the causal connection between the negligence of the plaintiff and her own injuries so patent as to preclude the submission of that issue to a jury?

In Sec. 6127 of *Blashfield's Cyclopedia of Automobile Law and Practice*, it is stated:

“Although one may be under the duty to look before crossing a city street, if he is injured by an



automobile while crossing and would escape the consequences of his negligence, he must show that, even if he had looked, the accident would still have happened."

If the plaintiff had seen the defendant's vehicle, which was plainly visible, or seeing it had yielded the right of way to that vehicle, the accident of which plaintiff complains certainly would not have happened.

In *Burgess v. Salt Lake City railroad company*, 17 Utah 406, 53 Pac. 1013, plaintiff in crossing Second South between Main and West Temple Streets looked for west-bound street cars, but failed to look for an eastbound car and was injured when he stepped in front of the latter. There was some evidence that at the place of the injury, there were flagstones laid flush with the paving blocks indicating a crossing and also evidence that pedestrians crossed the street at any place between Main and West Temple. The court reversed a judgment in favor of plaintiff and remanded the case for a new trial. In holding that plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law under the evidence, the court said, starting on page 410 of the Utah Report:

"On the other hand, the evidence shows that the plaintiff incautiously and heedlessly stepped upon the track, where he received the injury. In the hurry of the moment, he attempted to cross the street and track without exercising that care which a man of ordinary prudence ought to exercise under like circumstances. Had he but used his senses it is clear that he could have avoided the accident. This it was his duty to do; and, having failed so to do, he cannot be heard to complain of



any injury that resulted from the failure which was the proximate cause thereof.

“The plaintiff, in crossing the street, was bound to exercise the same degree of care as that which it was incumbent upon the railway company to exercise.

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